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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

2021 was another turbulent year for Greenheart Group Limited (“Greenheart” or the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”). In the first half of financial year 2021, Greenheart’s operation
staged a visible recovery, underpinned by the strong demand for New Zealand radiata pine in China
and the increasing production and sales contribution from our Suriname division. However, as the
Group entered the third quarter, the slump in the demand for New Zealand radiata pine in the China
market, triggered by the dampening real estate market and power crisis and the enduring global
supply chain and transportation disruptions, slackened the recovery and dragged down Greenheart’s

second half year results.

The Group recorded a substantially increased net loss of HK$59,231,000 for the year (2020:
HK$36,127,000), caused primarily by movements in non-cash items. In New Zealand, the fair
value gain recognised on the plantation forest assets reduced substantially by HK$34,459,000 to
HK$26,630,000, reflecting the recent drop of the export price of New Zealand radiata pine to China.
In Suriname, we recorded a reversal of provision for impairment on timber concessions and cutting
rights of HK$12,785,000, due to the improvement of tropical hardwood log prices, but made a
specific provision for impairment of processing equipment of HK$8,128,000, caused by increase in

the prices of input materials.

New Zealand division

New Zealand division sold approximately 340,000m* of New Zealand radiata pine this year, a
17.6% decline compared to 2020. Lower volume was primarily attributable to the knock-on effect
induced by the real estate crisis and power shortage in China which started in the third quarter and
worsened through the rest of 2021. Turning to the sale prices, the high price achieved in the first half
was well sufficient to compensate the sharp decrease in the price in the second half, thereby lifting
the average export selling price on free-on-board (“FOB”) basis up by 16.1% for the year. Combining
the effects as mentioned above, New Zealand division recorded a total revenue of HK$283,758,000

for the year, a slight decrease of HK$9,533,000, or 3.3%, as compared with a year before.

Given the weakened market sentiment in China, the fair value gain recognised on the plantation
forest assets of HK$26,630,000 has dropped by 56.4% from that of last year (2020: HK$61,089,000).

Whilst the EBITDA of this division of HK$94,417,000 was 27.6% lower than 2020, primarily due

to the aforementioned significant reduction of the fair value gain on plantation forest assets, the

adjusted EBITDA was maintained at HK$69,381,000 (2020: HK$69,340,000).
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Chairman’s Statement

Suriname Division

Following the gradual easing of the restrictive lockdowns and stabilizing effects of very substantial
fiscal and monetary support by government around the world, the demand for tropical hardwood

products progressively returned to normal, particularly in Europe.

However, our Suriname division was not fully able to capitalise on the pent-up demand, largely
because of supply chain disruptions. Delays in government processing of harvesting and export
permits caused by COVID-19 shutdown, surging sea freight rates, shortage of bulk carriers and
containers, coupled with the unusual extended rainy season had hindered us in making delivery on

time and impeded our turnaround efforts.

Despite these difficulties, our Suriname division recorded a year on year revenue growth of 11.5%
for the year and a reduction of the negative adjusted EBITDA by 26.2% to HK$12,544,000 this year.

Prospect

The global outlook in 2022 is clouded by exceptional uncertainty. COVID-19 flare-ups, diminished
policy support, and lingering supply-chain bottlenecks made the global economic recovery cooling
down more than previously estimated in 2022. To make matters worse, Russian’s recent war with
Ukraine added huge risks for the world economy that is yet to fully recover from the pandemic

shock.

With particular regard to Mainland China, our major market, the financial difficulties faced by
several major property developers in late 2021 have led to serious concerns about the financial
stability of the whole sector. The government’s targeted measures to support the economy and
infrastructure development helped to stabilise the market conditions for the time being, but
significant uncertainty remains. The Cost and Freight (“CFR”) sale prices of New Zealand radiata pine
to China that bottomed at US$130-US$135 per m* in December 2021 returned to above US$160 in
late February. Going forward, the uncertainty surrounding the property market, surging input prices,
persistent COVID-19 risks and lingering China-US political tension, complicated by the Russia-
Ukraine war, could lead to much slower growth of China in the rest of 2022 and dwindling the

market demand.
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Chairman’s Statement

On the supply side, it is expected that the measures taken to contain the spread of Omicron in New
Zealand will continue to curb the log supply at least in the coming months. The constraint in supply,
together with less spruce from Europe and Russian log export ban, should help maintain the price
level in the near term. However, the rising fuel cost and ocean freight cost due to the Russia-Ukraine
war have driven up the operating costs of the entire sector. Should we not be able to pass the
increased costs to customers, it will inevitably bring pressure on the profitability of our New Zealand
division. The Group will closely monitor the market situation and may adjust the harvesting volume if

needed.

The continuing surge of COVID-19 in the past two years had seriously damaged Suriname’s economy
and its social and business environment. The country’s backward infrastructure, fiscal and political

risks altogether made the turnaround of our Suriname division slow and full of obstacles.

Due to the low vaccination coverage and weak healthcare system, it is likely that COVID-19 will
remain an enduring threat to Suriname in the near future. That aside, rising concern over the climate
change has directed global attention to deforestation, thereby creating further uncertainties for our
tropical hardwood business in Suriname. The Group is monitoring this global trend and undertaking
continuous strategic review of the future direction of Suriname division with the objective of

enhancing the return to shareholders.

The 26th United Nations Climate Conference concluded the Glasgow Climate Convention held in
November last year had called for new global efforts to explore ways to step up actions to close the
current carbon emission gap. A growing number of companies are making commitments to achieve
carbon neutrality by 2030. Carbon neutrality becomes a hot investment and business opportunity.
In the face of the new situation and our strong track record in plantation and sustainable forest
management, the Group will actively explore this new area of development and increase our scale in

forest-related carbon business.

In the meantime, we will stay vigilant and adopt practise prudent financial measures to preserve

shareholders’ interest as much as possible.
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Chairman’s Statement

Appreciation

In closing, on behalf of the board of directors of the Company, | would like to thank shareholders
for their continued support and to extend my thanks to all of my fellow directors and all of our
staff across Greenheart for their commitment and their invaluable contribution in what has been a

challenging year for the business.

Cheng Chi-Him, Conrad
Non-executive Chairman
Hong Kong

29 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2021, the Group’s operating activities started well during the first half as the demand for
New Zealand radiata pine rebounded and the production and sales from our Suriname division
increased. However, the Group’s performance was notably affected by the resurgence of COVID-19,
unprecedented global logistic bottleneck and the power crisis and liquidity crunch in China’s
property sector in the second half of the year. As a result of the recent drop of the export price of
New Zealand radiata pine, the fair value gain on plantation forest assets of New Zealand division
decreased substantially by HK$34,459,000 for the year. Taking into account the net positive
effect of the reversal of the provision for impairment on timber concessions and cutting rights of
HK$12,785,000, due to the improvement of tropical hardwood log prices and a specific provision
for impairment of processing equipment of HK$8,128,000, caused by the increase in prices of input
materials and the absence of the reversal of impairment losses on other receivables of HK$8,663,000
made last year, the Group’s loss for the year increased significantly from HK$36,127,000 in 2020 to
HK$59,231,000.

Revenue

The Group’s revenue for the year reduced by 1.8% or HK$5,732,000 to HK$320,521,000, with
the New Zealand division and the Suriname division contributing HK$283,758,000 (2020:
HK$293,291,000) and HK$36,763,000 (2020: HK$32,962,000) respectively.

The revenue from New Zealand division dropped slightly by 3.3% or HK$9,533,000 for the year. The
CFR export prices of New Zealand radiata pine to China increased rapidly in the first half of 2021 as
the demand from China recovered from COVID-19 pandemic. However, CFR export prices dropped
significantly in the second half of 2021 because of the port congestion in both New Zealand and
China, elevated shipping rate and concerns on Chinese economy outlook. The Group slowed down
the harvesting activities in the fourth quarter of 2021. Overall, the Group experienced an increase in
average export selling price on FOB basis by 16.1% and a drop in the sales volume by 17.6% during
the year.

Apart from sales of logs, revenue contributed from forest management services increased by 32.1%
to HK$4,527,000 during the year as New Zealand recovers from the nationwide lockdown for almost

an entire month in the previous year.

The revenue contributed from Suriname division increased by 11.5% or HK$3,801,000 because of
the increase in sales volume of lumber and average selling price of lumber, reflecting our strategy
in switching to high-value export products. Such an increase was partially offset by the decrease in

subcontracting fee income.
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Gross profit

Excluding the reversal of impairment on timber concessions and cutting rights of HK$12,785,000
and impairment on property, plant and equipment of HK$8,128,000 recognised in Suriname division
as mentioned below, the Group’s gross profit for the year was HK$27,677,000, representing an
increase of HK$18,656,000 as compared with that of last year. The gross profit contributed from the
New Zealand division was HK$40,214,000 (2020: HK$31,365,000) while the Suriname division
recorded a reduced loss of HK$12,537,000 for the year (2020: HK$22,344,000).

Gross profit margin for the year was 8.6% as compared to 2.8% for last year. The gross profit margin
for the New Zealand division for the year was 14.2% (2020: 10.7%) whilst the Suriname division
recorded a reduced gross loss margin of 34.1% for the year (2020: 67.8%).

The improvement in gross profit margin of New Zealand division was primarily due to the net effect
of the higher average export selling price on FOB basis which was partly offset by the increase in
average unit direct operating costs as a result of the appreciation of New Zealand dollars in the first
half of 2021.

The reduction in gross loss margin for the Suriname division was mainly resulted from the increase
in average selling price of lumber and the lower cost base in Suriname by rationalisation of its

workforce.

The reversal of impairment on timber concessions and cutting rights of HK$12,785,000 provided
during the year (2020: nil) was mainly related to the west Suriname cash-generating unit. The

increase of the fair value was primarily due to upward price adjustments of tropical hardwood logs.

The impairment on property, plant and equipment of HK$8,128,000 provided during the year (2020:
nil) was related to the west Suriname sawmill, primarily due to the increase in log input prices not

fully compensated by the increase in timber product prices.

Other income

Other income decreased to HK$1,528,000 for the year because there were no longer any one-
off COVID-19-related subsidies provided by the Hong Kong government and the New Zealand

government in the current year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other gains and losses

Other gains and losses for the year comprised the impairment of right-of-use assets and loss on early

termination of a lease in 2021.

Impairment on right-of-use assets of HK$91,000 (2020: reversal of HK$289,000) for the year
was primarily due to the decrease in fair value less costs of disposal of certain leasehold land in

Suriname.

Impairment losses recognised on financial assets, net

Losses recognised on financial assets during the year mainly represented recognition of the expected

credit losses on trade receivables.

Fair value gain on plantation forest assets

The fair value gain on our plantation forest assets in New Zealand dropped significantly to
HK$26,630,000 (2020: HK$61,089,000) for the year. The reduction in gain was primary attributable
to the decrease in near term forecast selling price of radiata pine, reflecting the current situation of

New Zealand softwood market.

Selling and distribution costs

Selling and distribution costs mainly represent trucking, export handling expenses, ocean freight and

logistic-related costs arising from the sale of logs and timber products.

It reduced slightly by 2.1% or by HK$929,000 due to the reduction of port costs from New Zealand

division resulted from the decrease in sales volume of New Zealand radiata pine during the year.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses dropped by 4.3% or by HK$2,166,000 to HK$47,767,000 for the year. Such
reduction was primarily attributed to the decrease in the staff costs with a reduction in the Group’s
total number of employees by 15 from 183 as at 31 December 2020 to 168 as at 31 December
2021 and the decrease in legal and professional fees. This was partially offset by the increase in

depreciation of property, plant and equipment due to the additional roading in New Zealand.
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Finance costs

The finance costs for the year represented the interests on bank borrowings, loans from immediate

holding company and a fellow subsidiary and lease liabilities.

The decrease of finance costs for the year by HK$1,475,000 or 8.4% was primarily due to the
reduction in interest on bank borrowings following the general reduction in London Interbank

Offered Rates during the year.

Income tax expense

The deferred tax expense for the year comprised the deferred tax expense of HK$6,406,000 and
HK$1,146,000 in the New Zealand and the Suriname divisions, respectively.

The deferred tax expense in the New Zealand division was mainly due to the taxable temporary
differences arising from the de-recognition of tax losses, fair value gain on New Zealand plantation
forest assets, different amortisation/depreciation rates for tax and accounting purposes related to the
New Zealand forest roads assets and the year-end foreign currency translation adjustment for United

States dollars denominated term loans and foreign currency denominated deferred tax liabilities.

The deferred tax expense in the Suriname division represented the net movement of taxable
temporary differences arising from amortisation of fair value adjustments in previous years’

acquisition of subsidiaries.

EBITDA

The Group’s EBITDA dropped by 25.7% to HK$77,473,000 for the year (2020: HK$104,212,000).
Respectively, the EBITDA of New Zealand division and Suriname division for the year were
HK$94,417,000 (2020: HK$130,401,000) and a loss of HK$3,947,000 (2020: HK$18,699,000).

The decrease in the Group’s EBITDA was driven by the decrease in the fair value gain on plantation
forest assets in our New Zealand division as mentioned above and one-off impairment on property,
plant and equipment, which were partially offset by the reversal of impairment of timber concessions
and cutting rights and the improvement of the underlying operating results of both New Zealand and

Suriname.

Annual Report 2021 « Greenheart Group Limited

11



12

Management Discussion and Analysis

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company

As a result of the aforementioned, the loss attributable to owners of the Company increased

significantly from HK$17,237,000 in 2020 to HK$36,938,000 for the year.

Additional information related to valuations of plantation forest assets

The Group’s plantation forest assets were independently valued by Indufor Asia Pacific Limited
(“Indufor”) as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. Indufor is an independent professional forest
specialist consulting firm. The key valuers involved in the valuations are members of the New
Zealand Institute of Forestry, and have no present or prospective interest in the Group’s plantation
forest assets, and no personal interest or bias with respect to the Group. In the opinion of the
Directors, Indufor is independent and competent to determine the fair value of the Group’s

plantation forest assets.

As part of the independent valuation, a ground inspection was conducted by Indufor in relation to
certain areas of the Group’s plantation forest assets so as to verify the physical existence and quality
in 2021 and 2020. In addition, a high level area validation exercise using satellite imagery was
performed for the Group’s plantation forest assets with a total land area of 15,819 hectares. The area

verification covered the entire planted forest area.

The quality of the radiata pine is also assessed based on three criteria: the forest health, yield and
grade mix. A high-level review of the status and general health and quality of the plantation forest

assets mainly included:

(@)  comparing the status of plantation information provided by the forest manager with the results
of the ground inspection in relation to the health and quality of the plantation conducted by

Indufor;

(b) assessment of the yield and grade mix of the plantation forest assets based on (i) the actual
harvesting records obtained from the forest manager since the acquisition of the plantation
forest assets; and (ii) the yield tables prepared by the previous owners of the plantation forest

assets which the Group obtained during due diligence in previous years; and

(c)  comparing the forest planted area maps provided by the forest manager with a sample of

newly planted stands inspected by Indufor during the field inspection.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s current assets and current liabilities were respectively
HK$202,530,000 and HK$101,510,000 (31 December 2020: HK$241,630,000 and
HK$114,387,000), of which HK$92,916,000 (31 December 2020: HK$167,684,000) were cash
and bank balances. The Group’s outstanding borrowings as at 31 December 2021 represented
the loans from immediate holding company amounting to HK$187,214,000 (31 December 2020:
HK$181,900,000), loan from a fellow subsidiary amounting to HK$156,500,000 (31 December
2020: nil), bank borrowings amounting to HK$24,960,000 (31 December 2020: HK$220,203,000)
and lease liabilities of HK$22,101,000 (31 December 2020: HK$24,149,000). Accordingly, the
Group’s gearing ratio as of 31 December 2021, which was calculated on the basis of outstanding
borrowings as a percentage of equity attributable to owners of the Company, was 42.6% (31
December 2020: 44.7%).

As at 31 December 2021, there were 1,854,991,056 ordinary shares of the Company in issue. The
Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial management. Cash is generally
placed in short-term deposits mostly denominated in United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars.

The Group’s liquidity and financing requirements are reviewed regularly.

Most of the Group’s sales are denominated in United States dollars, to which the Hong Kong dollars
is pegged. All the Group’s outstanding borrowings, and the majority of costs and expenses incurred
in Hong Kong and Suriname are also denominated in United States dollars. The domestic sales
generated from the New Zealand plantation forest assets and the forest management fee income
from New Zealand division are denominated in New Zealand dollars, which helps to partially offset
the Group’s operating expenses payable in New Zealand dollars. During the year, the Group did
not use any financial instruments for hedging purposes and the Group did not have any hedging
instruments outstanding as at 31 December 2021. However, we will continue to closely monitor all
possible exchange risk arising from the Group’s existing operations and any new investments and
will implement the necessary hedging arrangement(s) to mitigate any significant foreign exchange

exposure.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PROSPECTS

The demand for New Zealand radiata pine stably recovered for the first quarter of 2022, with the
help of the measures taken by the Chinese government after the further dip of the China construction
sector in the fourth quarter of 2021. CFR price of New Zealand radiata pine rose steadily and freight
prices held below US$50 per tonne for the first 8-10 weeks of 2022. This however changed with
the global political situation boiling over in Europe with the Russia-Ukraine war impacting oil and
bunker fuel prices and the sanction on Russia reducing the supply of suitable vessels and resulting
in US$20-US$25 per tonne increase in the ocean freight charges again in the mid of March. At this
moment, majority of forest owners and operators in the world were taking conservative approach
to resume full production capacity and kept constant review of the CFR prices and freight as
repercussions of Russia-Ukraine conflicts and the resurgence of COVID-19 making it ever more

challenging to navigate through.

While the demand for New Zealand softwood in China remained at a stable level so far, the
heightened ocean freight prices caused by the Russia-Ukraine war has started to wipe out the profit
margin of the exporters and traders. At the time of this report, the CFR prices have reached US$175
to US$178 per m®, due to the rising freight charges, which are very close to our forecast brake point
of US$185 per m*. A quick resolution of the event in East Europe will help dampen fuel price and

ease the tension among all forest owners and traders.

Greenfield land acquisitions with carbon credit revenue potential will be our priority as a
diversification to our medium to long term revenue streams. The highly competitive market has seen
up to 175% increases in per hectare land prices to match the optimism on carbon prices, up US$48
to US$78 per unit within 12 months. Subject to the right price, we expect the Group will acquire

more greenfield land in New Zealand in the near future.

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to affect our business process and operations as we respond to
shortage in manpower, cost and supply of logistical services. Additionally for Suriname division, it
is the continued heavy rainfall for eight consecutive months that caused the highest impact on our
operations in Suriname last year. Unfortunately, the first two months of 2022 has continued that
unwanted trend. Aside from the intractable weather condition, our Suriname operations achieved
its improvement milestones so far with higher lumber and log prices, strong lumber demand to
match European and US consumer home improvement trends and continued improvement in our
production efficiency level. Re-engineering our processing facilities in the capital city and focusing
on more downstream products are going to be key drivers of the improved results. Looking forward,
the completion of the turnaround of our Suriname operation will largely hinge on the sustainability
of the market demand amid the current challenging global economic environment, the weather

condition in Suriname and the easing of logistic bottleneck, which would take time.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s bank loan facilities were secured by:

(i) all the present and after-acquired property (the “Personal Property”) of certain indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company (the “Selected Group Companies”); and

(i) a fixed charge over:

a. the Group’s forestry land (located in New Zealand) with carrying amount of
approximately HK$140,215,000 (2020: HK$138,401,000) (“Forestry Land”);

b. the Group’s plantation forest assets (located in New Zealand) with carrying amount
of approximately HK$411,173,000 (2020: HK$455,131,000) and all other estates and
interests in the Forestry Land and all buildings, structures and fixtures on the Forestry
Land; and

c. all other present and after-acquired property that is not Personal Property of the
Selected Group Companies.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the year, the Group incurred capital expenditure of approximately HK$14,913,000 (2020:
HK$8,554,000) on investment in property, plant and equipment.

BUSINESS ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

The Group had no material business acquisitions or disposals for the year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities (2020: nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the end of the reporting period of the Group are set out in note
45 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of employees of the Group was 168 (2020: 183).
Employment costs (including Directors’ emoluments) amounted to approximately HK$32,705,000
for the year (2020: HK$42,148,000). Remuneration of employees includes salary and discretionary
bonus, based on the Group’s results and individual performance. Medical and retirement benefits
schemes are made available to all levels of personnel.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheng Chi-Him, Conrad, aged 43, has been a non-executive Director of the Company since
4 June 2015 and non-executive Chairman of the Board since 22 March 2016. Mr. Cheng is the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination Committee”). Mr. Cheng
graduated from University of Toronto in Canada with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Statistics and has
been specializing in project management of property projects in China since 2005. Mr. Cheng is the

cousin-in-law of Mr. Tsang On-Yip, Patrick, who is a non-executive Director of the Company.

Mr. Ding Wai Chuen, aged 62, has been an executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company since 5 November 2018. Mr. Ding graduated from the University of Birmingham with a
Bachelor’s degree in Commerce. He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. He has over 30 years of experience in professional accountancy with
international firms in England and Hong Kong. Before joining the Company, Mr. Ding served for six
years as the chief executive of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).
Mr. Ding was an independent non-executive director, non-executive director and executive director
of Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: 411) and an independent non-executive director
and the executive director of Guoco Group Limited (stock code: 53). Mr. Ding was a member of
the Commission on Strategic Development of the HKSAR Government from November 2005 to
June 2007 and a member of Pan-Pearl River Delta Panel of the Central Policy Unit of the HKSAR
Government between January 2006 and December 2009. Mr. Ding was a council member of
HKICPA and a member of the Financial Reporting Review Panel of the Financial Reporting Council
between 2007 and 2012. Since 2002, Mr. Ding has served as a member of the PRC Ministry of
Finance Advisory Group of Foreign Experts for the development of the PRC’s Independent Auditing
Standards. Between 2016 and 2021, he served as a member of PRC Ministry of Finance Accounting
Standards Advisory Committee. Between November 2014 and October 2018, Mr. Ding represented
Hong Kong to serve on the board of International Federation of Accountants, the global organization
for the accountancy profession with over 170 members and associates in 130 countries and

jurisdictions.
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Mr. Tsang On-Yip, Patrick, aged 50, has been a non-executive Director of the Company since 4
June 2015. Mr. Tsang is a member of the audit committee (“Audit Committee”) and remuneration
committee (“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company. Mr. Tsang obtained a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics from Columbia College of Columbia University in New York, the United States of America
and has over 20 years of international capital markets experience. Mr. Tsang is the cousin-in-law of
Mr. Cheng Chi-Him, Conrad, who is the Chairman of the Board and a non-executive Director of the

Company.

Mr. Tsang is a non-executive director of Integrated Waste Solutions Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 923) and SJM Holdings Limited (stock code: 880), an executive director of i-CABLE
Communications Limited (stock code: 1097), Melbourne Enterprises Limited (stock code: 158) and
UMP Healthcare Holdings Limited (stock code: 722), all being listed public companies in Hong
Kong. He is also a director of Cheng Yu Tung Foundation Limited and Chow Tai Fook Enterprises

Limited.

Mr. Simon Murray CBE, aged 82, has been a non-executive Director of the Company since 17
August 2010. Mr. Murray founded the private equity fund management company, General Enterprise

Management Services Limited, in 1998 and is currently the Chairman of their Advisory Board.

Mr. Murray is also an independent non-executive director of Wing Tai Properties Limited (stock code:
369) and a non-executive director of China LNG Group Limited (stock code: 931), all being listed
public companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Murray is also an independent non-executive director of Spring
Asset Management Limited (manager of the listed Spring Real Estate Investment Trust which is listed

in Hong Kong).

Mr. Murray was an independent non-executive director of Hutchison Whampoa Limited and has
previously acted as an independent non-executive director of Cheung Kong Property Holdings
Limited (now renamed as CK Asset Holdings Limited) and an independent non-executive director
of IRC Limited (stock code: 1029). He was also the Executive Chairman of Deutsche Bank AG Asia
Pacific and a non-executive director of Compagnie Financiere Richemont SA, a company listed on

the Swiss stock exchange, and now serves on their Advisory Board.

Mr. Murray was appointed a Commander of The Most Excellent Order of the British Empire (CBE)
and a Chevalier within the Ordre National du Mérite of the French Republic (Chevalier de La Legion
d’Honneur). Mr. Murray holds an Honorary Degree in Law from Bath University and attended the

Stanford Executive Program in the United States.
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Mr. Wong Man Chung, Francis, aged 57, has been an independent non-executive Director of
the Company since 2 July 2015. Mr. Wong is the chairman of both the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Wong holds a Master
Degree in Management conferred by Guangzhou Jinan University, the People’s Republic of China.
He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors and a Certified
Tax Advisor of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising)
and has over 25 years of experience in auditing, taxation, corporate internal control and governance,
acquisition and financial advisory, corporate restructuring and liquidation, family trust and wealth

management.

Previously, Mr. Wong worked for KPMG, an international accounting firm, for 6 years and the Hong
Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited for 2 years. Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-
executive director of Integrated Waste Solutions Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 923), China
Oriental Group Company Limited (stock code: 581), Digital China Holdings Limited (stock code:
861), Wai Kee Holdings Limited (stock code: 610), GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited (stock code:
3800), Hilong Holding Limited (stock code: 1623), Qeeka Home (Cayman) Inc. (stock code: 1739),
IntelliCentrics Global Holdings Limited (stock code: 6819) and Shanghai Dongzheng Automotive
Finance Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2718), all being listed public companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong
previously served as an independent non-executive director of Kunming Dianchi Water Treatment
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 3768) and China New Higher Education Group Limited (stock code: 2001),

both of which are listed companies in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Cheung Pak To Patrick BBS, aged 72, has been an independent non-executive Director of the
Company since 5 June 2019. Mr. Cheung holds a master’s degree in public administration from the
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Cheung has extensive management and administrative experiences.
Between 1969 and 1989, Mr. Cheung served with the United Kingdom Government, British Forces
in Hong Kong for 21 years, with his final post as a Civilian Executive Officer. Thereafter from 1989,
he was employed by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong for 20 years, with his
final position as Senior Manager of the Finance & Administration Department. On the social and
community responsibilities front, Mr. Cheung was a devoted volunteer officer in the Hong Kong Civil
Aid Service for 30 years during which he was appointed as honorary Aide-de-Camp to Governors
Lord Wilson and Mr. Christopher Patten; and Chief Executive Mr. Tung Chee-hwa for 10 consecutive
years from 1990 to 1999. Mr. Cheung achieved the rank of Assistant Commissioner in the Hong Kong
Civil Aid Service and was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong Government in 2003.
Mr. Cheung is currently an independent non-executive director of Minshang Creative Technology
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1632) and Amasse Capital Holdings Limited (stock code: 8168), both
of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Cheung formerly served as an executive
director of Hong Kong Resources Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2882) and re-designated
as its non-executive director. He was also an independent non-executive director of National
Agricultural Holdings Limited (stock code: 1236) during which this firm was a listed public company
in Hong Kong.

Mr. To Chun Wai, aged 66, has been an independent non-executive Director of the Company since
30 July 2020. Mr. To is a member of each of the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee. Mr. To is currently the chairman and chief executive officer of Gung-
ho Consultancy Company Limited, and also the independent non-executive director of Auto lItalia
Holdings Limited (stock code: 720) and ISP Holdings Limited (formerly known as Synergis Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 2340), both of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong. Mr. To
formerly served as an executive director and a non-executive director of Integrated Waste Solutions
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 923), a listed public company in Hong Kong. Mr. To spent
most of his career, beginning in 1974, with the Hong Kong Police, rising up the ranks to Assistant
Commissioner of Police (Crime) overseeing crime operations and policies of the Hong Kong Police,
until his retirement in 2011. He was awarded the Police Meritorious Service Medal in recognition of
his long years of service and contribution to the Hong Kong society. Mr. To has wide administrative
and management experience. He holds a master degree of public administration from The University
of Hong Kong and also tutored public administration on a part-time basis from 2011 to 2012 at The

University of Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Tse Nga Ying, Daphne, aged 49, is the Chief Financial Officer, a member of the Executive
Management Committee and the Company Secretary of the Company. She has worked for the
Company and its affiliated companies for more than 10 years. Ms. Tse has over 20 years of
experience in audit, accounting, financing and a strong background in manufacturing and trading
companies. She graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s degree in
Professional Accountancy. She is also a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants

and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Lai Kwok Hung, Danny, aged 48, is the overseas operations director of the Company and a
member of the Executive Management Committee. Since joining the Company in 2015, Mr. Lai
is focusing on the overseas business operations, assessing and shaping transformational projects,
execution and delivery of key targets and the development of new business growth initiatives. He is
also responsible for the turnaround of Suriname operations and the business development in New
Zealand. Mr. Lai has over 20 years of global experience from various industry covering oil and gas,

advertising and technology spanning across Africa, Middle East, Asia and North and South America.
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The Board and the management of the Group are committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance which is reviewed and strengthened from time to time. The Company has
complied with all the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”)
contained in Part 2 of Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the year.

THE BOARD

The Board comprises seven Directors, including one executive Director, namely Mr. Ding Wai
Chuen; three non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Chi-Him, Conrad, Mr. Tsang On-Yip, Patrick and
Mr. Simon Murray, and three independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”, and each an “INED”),
namely Mr. Wong Man Chung, Francis, Mr. Cheung Pak To, Patrick and Mr. To Chun Wai. Mr. Cheng
Chi-Him, Conrad is the cousin-in-law of Mr. Tsang On-Yip, Patrick. Save as disclosed above, there
is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships)

among the Board members and members of the senior management of the Company.

The ordinary resolution to vote for the re-election of Mr. Cheng Yang as a non-executive Director of
the Company at the annual general meeting held on 25 May 2021 was less than 50%, Mr. Cheng

Yang retired with effect from the conclusion of the annual general meeting.

All INEDs have complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules and have presented annual
confirmations of independence issued pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules to the Company. The
Directors consider that all three INEDs are independent under these independence criteria and are
capable of effectively exercising independent judgment. The Company considers that the Board has
the necessary skills and experience appropriate for discharging their duties as Directors in the best

interests of the Company and that the current board size is adequate for its present operations.
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Detailed biographies outlining each Director’s range of specialist experience and suitability for the
successful long-term management of the Group can be found in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management”. The principal functions of the Board are to make
decisions on the objectives, strategic plans, budgets and management structure of the Company; to
oversee the management of the business and affairs of the Group with the objective of enhancing
Company performance and shareholder value; to ensure appropriate delegation of authority
to, coupled with commensurate accountability of, the management to facilitate the day-to-day
operations of the Group, implementation of the budgets and strategic plans and development of the
organization of the Company for implementing the Board’s decisions. During the year, the Board
has reviewed, inter alia, the business strategy of the Group; reviewed and approved the annual and
interim results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 and for the six months ended
30 June 2021, respectively, and has reviewed the Group’s internal control environment; as well as

participated in other significant operational, financial and compliance matters.

The Board holds meetings on a regular basis as well as on an ad hoc basis, as required by the
Group’s needs. The Board held four meetings during the year (2020: four meetings). The Board has
delegated responsibility for day-to-day management of the Group to the executive Director and
the Executive Management Committee, which presently comprises Ms. Tse Nga Ying, Daphne (the
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Company) and Mr. Lai Kwok Hung, Danny
(the overseas operations director of the Company). Board meetings for granting share options or
daily operations of the Company are delegated to meetings of executive Directors, therefore those
Board meetings have not been counted to the Directors’ attendance statistics. Sufficient notice was
given for regular Board meetings and reasonable notice was given for non-regular Board meetings
to all Directors so as to ensure that each of them had an opportunity to attend the meetings, and
agendas and accompanying Board papers were given to all Directors in a timely manner. The
Directors are able, at the Company’s expense, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances. During the intervals between Board meetings, Directors are kept appraised of
all major changes that may affect the Group’s business. The draft minutes of Board meetings are
prepared by the secretary of the meetings and circulated to all Directors for comments within a
reasonable time. The approved minutes of the Board meetings are maintained by the Company
Secretary and available for inspection by all Directors upon request. The number of Board meetings

attended by each Director during the year is set out in the following table.
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Number Number
of Board of general
meetings meetings
Name of Director attended/held attended/held
(Note 2) (Note 2)
Executive Director
Mr. Ding Wai Chuen 4/4 11
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Chi-Him, Conrad 4/4 1/1
Mr. Tsang On-Yip, Patrick 4/4 11
Mr. Simon Murray 2/4 0/1
Mr. Cheng Yang (Note 1) 171 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Man Chung, Francis 4/4 11
Mr. Cheung Pak To, Patrick 4/4 11
Mr. To Chun Wai 4/4 1/1
Notes:
1. Mr. Cheng Yang retired as a non-executive Director on 25 May 2021.
2. The denominator is the number of meetings held within term of office of each board member for the year

ended 31 December 2021.

Where necessary, the Company arranges for independent professional advice to be provided to the

Directors to assist them in discharging their duties.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged by the Company in respect of any possible legal

action against its Directors.
The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to develop

and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains

informed and relevant.
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The Directors are appropriately briefed on the latest changes to, and development of, the Listing
Rules, corporate governance practices and other regulatory regimes with written materials. The
Directors are also encouraged to attend professional seminars relating to director’s duties and

responsibilities.

The Directors are committed to complying with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code on
Directors’ training. All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and

provided a record of training they received for the year to the Company.
The individual training record of each Director received for the year is set out below:
Corporate Governance/
Updates on Laws, Rules & Regulations
Read Materials and/or

Name of Director Attended Seminars

Executive Director
Mr. Ding Wai Chuen v

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Chi-Him, Conrad v
Mr. Simon Murray 4
Mr. Tsang On-Yip, Patrick v
Mr. Cheng Yang (Note 1) X
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Man Chung, Francis v
Mr. Cheung Pak To, Patrick 4
Mr. To Chun Wai 4
Note:

1. Mr. Cheng Yang retired as a non-executive Director on 25 May 2021.
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CHANGE IN THE COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

Mr. Cheng Yang retired as a non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 25 May 2021.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive should be clearly established and set out
in writing. As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer are Mr. Cheng Chi-Him, Conrad and Mr. Ding Wai Chuen respectively. The Chairman’s
responsibility is to provide leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in
accordance with good corporate governance practice. The Chief Executive Office is responsible for
formulating the Group’s strategies, and focuses on implementing objectives, policies and strategies
approved and delegated by the Board, and is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day management

and operations.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All non-executive Directors (including the INEDs) have been appointed for a specific term of three
years, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at least once every three years at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company and the Listing

Rules.

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed
at least three INEDs, who represent more than one-third of the Board and one INED possesses
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.
They are expected to scrutinize the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and
objectives, and ensure that the exercise of the board authority is within the powers conferred to the

Board under the Company’s Bye-laws and applicable laws, rules and regulations.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) is Ms. Tse Nga Ying, Daphne. She
has fulfilled the requirements of Rules 3.28 and 3.29 of the Listing Rules. As an employee of the
Company, the Company Secretary supports the Board, ensures good information flow to and within
the Board, and that Board policies and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary also advises
the Board on governance matters, facilitates induction and monitors the training and continuous
professional development of Directors. She has attained not less than 15 hours of relevant

professional training during the year.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee currently has three members comprising one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Cheng Chi-Him, Conrad (Chairman) and two INEDs, namely Mr. Wong Man Chung,
Francis and Mr. To Chun Wai.

The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are, among other matters, to assist the
Board to review the size and structure of the Board and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors to the Board. The Company has approved and adopted
a nomination policy of the Company (“Nomination Policy”), setting out the nomination procedure
and the process and criteria to nominate suitable candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders for election as Director(s) at general meetings. In assessing the
suitability of a proposed candidate, the Nomination Committee will consider a number of factors,
including but not limited to the candidate’s reputation for integrity, his’/her accomplishment and
experience, his/her commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest, the Company’s
board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”), independence of the candidate (where

applicable); and any other factors that the Nomination Committee considers appropriate.

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach to achieve diversity in the
Board composition. As set out in the policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through
the consideration of a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service,
and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from time to time. The
Board would ensure that appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference to
stakeholders’ expectation and international and local recommended best practices, with the goal to

appoint a director of different gender no later than 31 December 2024.

Both the Nomination Policy and Board Diversity Policy can be accessed from the website of
the Company. The Nomination Committee will review and monitor the implementation of the
Nomination Policy and Board Diversity Policy regularly to ensure its continued effectiveness and

makes recommendations on any proposed revisions as may be required to the Board for approval.

Greenheart Group Limited < Annual Report 2021



Corporate Governance Report

During the year, one meeting was held by the Nomination Committee to assess the independence
of the INEDs; and to make recommendation to the Board in relation to the re-election of retiring

Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Attendance of the members is set out below:

Number of Meeting(s)

Members of Nomination Committee attended/held
Mr. Cheng Chi-Him, Conrad (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Wong Man Chung, Francis 171
Mr. To Chun Wai 11

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Company

and the Stock Exchange.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee has three members comprising two INEDs, namely Mr. Wong Man
Chung, Francis (Chairman) and Mr. To Chun Wai and one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Tsang
On-Yip, Patrick.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee are, among other matters, to formulate
the remuneration policy based on the responsibilities, qualifications and performance of senior
management and Directors; and to review and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior management. The major objective of the
remuneration policy is to ensure that the Company is able to attract, retain, and motivate a high-
calibre team which is essential to the success of the Company. No Director and executive may

determine his or her own remuneration.

During the year, one meeting was held by the Remuneration Committee to review and approve
the remuneration policy of the Group, to assess the performance of executive Directors and senior
management; and to review and approve the remuneration packages of all Directors and senior

management of the Group. Attendance of the members is set out below:

Number of Meeting(s)

Members of Remuneration Committee attended/held
Mr. Wong Man Chung, Francis (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Tsang On-Yip, Patrick 11
Mr. To Chun Wai 11

Annual Report 2021 « Greenheart Group Limited

27



28

Corporate Governance Report

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company currently has three members comprising two INEDs, namely
Mr. Wong Man Chung, Francis (Chairman) and Mr. To Chun Wai and one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Tsang On-Yip, Patrick. None of them are members of the former or existing auditors of
the Company. The Board considers that the Audit Committee has extensive commercial experience in

business, financial and legal matters.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among other matters, reviewing and monitoring
financial reporting and the judgment contained therein; reviewing financial and internal controls,
accounting policies and practices with management and external auditors; and reviewing the

Company’s compliance with CG Code.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with the management the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters, and
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance. The Audit Committee has reviewed
and discussed with the management and external auditors the consolidated financial statements for
the year. During the year, four meetings were held by the Audit Committee, three of which were

attended by the external auditors. Attendance of the members is set out below:

Number of Meeting(s)

Members of Audit Committee attended/held
Mr. Wong Man Chung, Francis (Chairman) 4/4
Mr. Tsang On-Yip, Patrick 4/4
Mr. To Chun Wai 4/4

The Board has not taken any different view from that of the Audit Committee regarding the selection,

appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditors.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the websites of the Company and the

Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors (“Code
of Conduct”) on terms no less exacting than the required standard as set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”). All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the Code of Conduct for
the year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Senior management provides explanations and information to the Board to facilitate an informed

assessment of the financial and other information put before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial statements which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. Meanwhile, the Directors are responsible for ensuring
that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently; and that judgments
and estimates made are prudent and reasonable. In preparing the financial statements for the year,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong have been adopted and the requirements of
the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants and the applicable laws were complied with.

The financial statements of the Group for the year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and
audited by the external auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”). For the year, the audit fee
was HK$2,480,000 and the non-audit service fees paid and payable to Deloitte was HK$209,000.
The non-audit services mainly comprised taxation compliance services. The responsibilities of the
external auditors with respect to financial reporting are set out in the section “Independent Auditor’s

Report”.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and effective risk management and
internal control system for the Group. The Group’s risk management and internal control system
featured with a well-defined management structure with limited authority of each operational unit.
Internal control policies and procedures are in place to safeguard assets against unauthorized use
or disposition, and ensure maintenance of proper records, reliability of financial information for
internal use or publication and compliance with relevant legislation and regulations. The system is
decided to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can

only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatements or loss.

The Board oversees the Group’s risk management and internal control policies, which are aimed
at evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks that are compatible with the
Group’s business environment and risk appetite. The Board has delegated to the management
the implementation of such systems of internal controls as well as the annual review of relevant

financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management procedures.

In light of the Group’s scale of the operation, the Group is currently of the view that there is no
immediate need to have a separate internal audit department. The Group’s internal audit function is
currently carried out by selected members from the financial department of the head office in Hong
Kong who are free from the influence of those being audited. An annual audit plan will be prepared
and reviewed by the Audit Committee every year. The audit plan is derived from risk assessment basis
and is aimed at covering each significant business unit in which the Group involves in day-to-day
management within a reasonable period. Major audit findings and recommendations are reported to
the Audit Committee, which in turn reports to the Board. The management is responsible for ensuring
appropriate actions are taken to rectify any control deficiencies highlighted in the internal audit
reports within a reasonable period. The status of the implementation of the appropriate actions is

reported to the Audit Committee.
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Based on the assessment which covers all material controls including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions, the management believes that for the year, the
Company’s system of risk management and internal control was effective. The Board is satisfied that
there are adequate resources with appropriate qualifications and experience in its accounting and

financial reporting team and that sufficient training and budget have been provided.

The Audit Committee received the internal audit report and has taken such report into consideration
when it makes recommendation to the Board for approval of the half-yearly and annual results of the

Group.

The Group has adopted procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside information in order

to ensure the Group is in compliance with the regulatory requirements.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the year, the Group has sought to maintain corporate transparency and communications
with its shareholders and the investment community through its interim and annual reports, and
timely distribution of announcements, circulars and/or other publications. The corporate website
of the Company provides an effective communication platform to keep the market abreast of its
latest developments. Meetings and visits have been organized, as and when required, to enhance

understanding by institutional investors and analysts of the Group’s business and operations.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting (“SGM”) by Shareholders

Bye-laws of the Company

1.1

Bye-law 55 sets out the position under the Bye-laws of the Company where a requisition is
made by shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders” and each a “Shareholder”). Bye-
law 55 provides that a SGM shall be convened on requisition, as provided by the Companies

Act (as defined therein), or, in default, may be convened by the requisitionists.

Companies Act 1981 (as amended) of Bermuda (“Companies Act”)

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

Pursuant to section 74 of the Companies Act, a Shareholder or Shareholders holding at the
date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company as at the date of the deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company may make requisition to the directors of the Company (the “Directors” and each a
“Director”) to forthwith proceed duly to convene a SGM by depositing a written requisition at

the registered office of the Company.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting (including the resolutions to be
considered at the meeting), signed by the requisitionists, deposited at the registered office of
the Company at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda and may consist

of several documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a SGM, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than
one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a SGM, but any SGM
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of

the requisition.

A SGM so convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as

possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by the Directors.
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Companies Act

2.1

2.2

2.3

Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act allow certain Shareholder(s) to make requisitions to
the Company to give notice to the shareholders in respect of any resolution which is intended
to be moved at an annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company or circulate a statement
in respect of any proposed resolution or business to be considered at a general meeting of the
Company. Under section 79 of the Companies Act, at the expense of the requisitionists unless
the Company otherwise resolves, it shall be the duty of the Company on the requisition in

writing by such number of Shareholders:

(@)  to give to the Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next AGM notice of any

resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting;

(b)  to circulate to the Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting sent to
them any statement of not more than one thousand words with respect to the matter

referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The number of Shareholders necessary to make the above-mentioned requisitions to the

Company shall be:

(a)  either any number of Shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of the total
voting rights of all the Shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to vote

at the meeting to which the requisition relates; or

(b) not less than one hundred Shareholders.

Notice of any such intended resolution shall be given, and any such statement shall be
circulated, to Shareholders entitled to have notice of the meeting sent to them by serving a
copy of the resolution or statement on each such Shareholder in any manner permitted for
service of notice of the meeting, and notice of any such resolution shall be given to any other
Shareholder by giving notice of the general effect of the resolution in any manner permitted
for giving him notice of meetings of the Company, provided that the copy shall be served, or
notice of the effect of the resolution shall be given, as the case may be, in the same manner
and, so far as practicable, at the same time as notice of the meeting and, where it is not
practicable for it to be served or given at that time, it shall be served or given as soon as

practicable thereafter.

Annual Report 2021 « Greenheart Group Limited

33



34

Corporate Governance Report

2.4

Section 80 of the Companies Act sets out the conditions to be met before the Company is

bound to give any notice of resolution or to circulate any statement. Pursuant to section 80

of the Companies Act, the Company shall not be bound to give notice of any resolution or to

circulate any statement as mentioned in paragraph 2.1 above unless:

(a)

a copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists, or two or more copies which
between them contain the signatures of all the requisitionists, is deposited at the

registered office of the Company:

(i) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than six

weeks before the meeting; and

(i) in the case of any other requisition, not less than one week before the meeting;

and

there is deposited or tendered with the requisition a sum reasonably sufficient to meet
the Company’s expense in giving effect to the procedures in paragraph 2.1 above (i.e.

the giving of notice of resolution and/or circulation of statement).

Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring notice of a resolution has been deposited at

the registered office of the Company, an AGM is called for a date six weeks or less after the copy has

been deposited, the copy though not deposited within the above-mentioned time shall be deemed to

have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

With respect to proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures can be found on the

Company’s website at www.greenheartgroup.com.
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Making Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries, either by post, facsimile or email, together with their
contact details, such as postal address, email or fax, addressed to the head office of the Company at

the following address, facsimile number or via email:

Address: 32A, 32/F., Fortis Tower, Nos. 77-79 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2511 8998

Email: ir@greenheartgroup.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries of the Board at the general meetings of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has a shareholders’” communication policy to provide shareholders with detailed
information about the communication channels with the shareholders in order to maintain an
ongoing dialogue with them and the investment community. These include general meetings,

financial reports, notices, announcements and circulars.
The Company encourages its shareholders to attend the general meetings of the Company to raise

comments and exchange views with the Board. The Directors and, where appropriate, independent

external auditors and financial advisers, are available to answer questions at the meetings.
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries of the Company comprise log harvesting, timber processing, marketing, sales and trading
of logs and timber products, provision of forest management services and managing harvest right of
concession. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during

the year.

Further discussion and analysis of the activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, including an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business,
can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 8 to 15 of this annual

report. This discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s normal course of business is exposed to a variety of key risks including interest rate
risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Details of the aforesaid key risks and risk

mitigation are elaborated in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

As the Group conducts substantial business operations around the world, and hold all its plantation
assets in New Zealand, forest concessions and sawmills in Suriname, its business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations may be affected by political, economic and social
developments in New Zealand and Suriname, by regional events affecting New Zealand and
Suriname, as well as heightened global environmental consciousness. In addition, the general global

economy may affect the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to conducting its business in an environmentally conscious manner and
minimizing the adverse effects caused by its operations on the environment. The Group continues
to make endeavours in saving energy and reducing unnecessary waste by adopting various green
measures in its workplace. Such measures include using energy-efficient light tubes, encouraging
the use of recycle papers and both sides of papers for printing and copying and keeping office
temperature at a reasonable level. The Group reviews the environmental policy from time to time and
will consider implementing further environmentally friendly measures and practices in the operation

of the Group’s business.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board paid attention to the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with all significant
legal and regulatory requirements essential to its business operations. The Group would seek
professional advice from its external legal advisers and consultants to ensure that transactions and
business to be performed by the Group are in compliance with applicable environmental policies,
laws and regulations. During the reporting period, as far as the Company is aware, it has complied in
all material respects of the laws or regulations that have a significant impact on the Group’s business

and operation.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group believes that employees are instrumental to the success of the Group and that their
industry knowledge and understanding of the market will enable the Group to maintain its
competitiveness in the market. The Group has developed a desirable working environment and
provided a variety of benefits and career development to its employees. Share Options may also be
granted for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contributed

to the success of the Group’s operations.

The Group also recognises that maintaining a good and stable relationship with its existing and
potential customers, suppliers and other stakeholders is the key to the sustainable development
of the Group. Accordingly, the management has kept good communication with its suppliers and
customers in order to monitor the credit quality of the customers and to make timely adjustments
to its operating strategies to conform to the market trends. In addition, the Group places effort
in building up and maintaining good relationships with various commercial banks and financial
institutions as the businesses of the Group are capital intensive and require on-going funding to

maintain continuous growth.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year and the Group’s financial position at year end are set out in the

consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 208.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year (2020: nil).
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial statements and the
annual report of the Company and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below. This summary

does not form part of the audited financial statements.

Year ended 31 December

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Results
Revenue 320,521 326,253 374,435 427,081 606,896
(Loss) profit for the year (59,231) (36,127) (228,121) (105,050) 40,338

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company (36,938) (17,237)  (143,814) (56,880) 86,451
Non-controlling interests (22,293) (18,890) (84,307) (48,170) (46,113)

(59,231) (36,127)  (228,121)  (105,050) 40,338

31 December

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities and

non-controlling interests

Total assets 1,110,112 1,209,343 1,222,134 1,568,277 1,667,088
Total liabilities (593,432) (633,579) (628,964) (756,771) (745,781)
Non-controlling interests 400,799 378,506 359,616 275,309 227,139

917,479 954,270 952,786 1,086,815 1,148,446
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

There were no movements in the Company’s authorized share capital during the year. Details of
movements in the Company’s issued share capital and share options during the year are set out in

notes 33 and 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda

which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed

any of the Company’s listed securities.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had no reserves available for distribution in accordance
with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended). However, the Company’s share premium
account, in the amount of HK$2,091,657,000 may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus
shares (2020: HK$2,091,657,000).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board may from time to time declare interim dividends and may recommend annual dividends,
subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company, in a general meeting but must not
exceed the amount recommended by the Board, in accordance with the provision of the bye-laws of
the Company (the “Bye-Laws”) and the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended from time to

time) (the “Companies Act”).

In accordance with the applicable requirements of the Bye-Laws and the Companies Act, the
Company may only declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of profits available for
distribution if:

(@)  the Company is, or after the payment be, able to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of the Company’s assets will not thereby be less than its liabilities.
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In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the form of shares. Any dividend satisfied
wholly in the form of an allotment of shares credited as fully paid without offering any right to the
shareholders to elect to receive such dividend in cash in lieu of such allotment must be approved by

a special resolution of the shareholders.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board, which will take into account,

inter alia, the following factors when considering the payment or declaration of dividends:

(a)  the Group’s actual and expected operations, financial performance and conditions and

liquidity position;
(b) the shareholder’s interests;

(c)  the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the members of

the Group;
(d)  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders;
(e)  the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans;
() statutory and regulatory restrictions;

(g)  general economic conditions and other internal or external factors that may have any impact

on the business or financial performance and position of the Company; and
(h)  any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between meeting shareholders’ expectations and
prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend policy. The Board will continue to review
the dividend policy and reserve the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the dividend policy from time to time, and the dividend policy shall in no way constitute an
assurance or a legally binding commitment by the Company in respect of its future dividend and/or

in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend in any particular amount for any given period.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, the permitted indemnity provision as
defined in section 469 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (chapter 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong) for the benefit of the directors of the Company was in force. The Company has arranged for
appropriate insurance cover for directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal action against its

directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for 86.9% of the total gross
revenue before export tax and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 60.2%.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 55.7% of the total purchases for the

year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein amounted to 21.3%.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest

in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Mr. Cheng Chi-Him, Conrad*

Mr. Ding Wai Chuen*

Mr. Tsang On-Yip, Patrick?

Mr. Simon Murray?

Mr. Wong Man Chung, Francis**

Mr. Cheung Pak To, Patrick**

Mr. To Chun Wai**

Mr. Cheng Yang? (retired on 25 May 2021)

* Executive Director
F Non-executive Director
*x Independent Non-executive Directors
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In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Ding Wai Chuen will retire by rotation and, being
eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(“AGM"). Mr. Tsang On-Yip, Patrick will retire after the conclusion of the AGM and will not stand
for re-election. Following Mr. Tsang’s retirement, he will also cease to be a member of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from the conclusion of the
AGM. The Board will identify suitable candidate(s) to fill the vacancy and details of the candidate(s)
will be included in the Company’s circular containing the notice of the AGM to be despatched to the
Shareholders.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules from Messrs. Wong Man Chung, Francis, Cheung Pak To, Patrick and To Chun Wai and

as at the date of this annual report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Company are set out on pages 16

to 20 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without

payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders” approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are
determined by the Board with reference to the recommendation from the Remuneration Committee

based on the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS” INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which
the holding company of the Company, or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries

was a party during the year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Company and the Group had the following

connected and continuing connected transactions:

Continuing connected transactions

i.

Provision of facility by Silver Mount to Greenheart Resources

On 14 May 2008, Greenheart Resources Holdings Limited (“Greenheart Resources”), a
60.39% indirect subsidiary of the Company, and Silver Mount Group Limited (“Silver Mount”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a facility agreement in
relation to the provision of a revolving loan facility of up to HK$50,000,000 (the “Facility
Limit”) by Silver Mount to Greenheart Resources (the “Facility”). The Facility is unsecured,
bears interest at prime rate for Hong Kong dollars per annum from time to time as quoted
by The Hongkong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited (or such other bank as may be
designated by Silver Mount) and was due on 14 May 2011 or such later day as Silver Mount
and Greenheart Resources agreed in writing. Sino-Forest Corporation (“Sino-Forest”) became
a substantial shareholder of the Company from 2007 until January 2013. Sino-Capital was
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sino-Forest and holds 39.61% of the issued share capital
of Greenheart Resources (“Greenheart Resources Shares”) following the acquisition of an
aggregate of 2,638,469,000 ordinary shares of Greenheart Resources by Sino-Capital in June
2010. After the completion of such acquisition, Greenheart Resources became a connected
person of the Company under Listing Rules and the provision of the Facility from Silver Mount
to Greenheart Resources constitutes a continuing connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 22 November 2010, Silver Mount entered into a supplemental facility agreement with
Greenheart Resources pursuant to which the parties agreed to increase the Facility Limit to
HK$215,000,000 and extend the drawdown period and repayment date of the Facility to 22
November 2013 or such later day as Silver Mount and Greenheart Resources may agree in

writing.

On 4 November 2013, Silver Mount entered into a second supplemental facility agreement
with Greenheart Resources pursuant to which the parties agreed to, among other things, (a)
extend the repayment date of the outstanding amount drawn under the Facility for three years
to 22 November 2016; (b) extend the drawdown period; and (c) change the interest payments
from monthly payments in arrears to six-monthly payments in arrears, or such other interest

payment date as may be mutually agreed.
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Following the completion of Newforest’s acquisition of the Greenheart Resources Shares from
Sino-Capital and its acquisition of 496,189,028 shares of the Company from Sino-Capital on 7
May 2015, Greenheart Resources became a connected subsidiary of the Company by virtue of

Newforest’s shareholding in Greenheart Resources.

On 12 December 2016, Silver Mount entered into a third supplemental facility agreement
with Greenheart Resources pursuant to which the parties agreed to, among other things,
(a) extend the repayment date of the outstanding amount drawn under the Facility for three
years to 22 November 2019; and (b) extend the drawdown period. This renewal of continuing
connected transaction was approved by the independent shareholders at the special general

meeting of the Company held on 23 January 2017.

On 26 January 2018, Silver Mount entered into a fourth supplemental facility agreement
with Greenheart Resources pursuant to which the parties agreed to, among other things,
(a) increase the Facility Limited to HK$371,000,000; (b) extend the repayment date of the
outstanding amount drawn under the Facility to 30 November 2021; and (c) extend the
drawdown period. This renewal of continuing connected transaction was approved by the
independent shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company held on 12 March
2018.

On 15 June 2020, Silver Mount entered into a fifth supplemental facility agreement with
Greenheart Resources pursuant to which the parties agreed to, among other things, (a)
increase the Facility Limited to HK$400,000,000; (b) extend the repayment date of the
outstanding amount drawn under the Facility to 4 August 2023; and (c) extend the drawdown
period. This renewal of continuing connected transaction was approved by the independent

shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company held on 4 August 2020.

As at 31 December 2021, a total of HK$356,067,000 had been drawn down by Greenheart
Resources from the Facility and the related interest incurred for the year amounted to
HK$17,667,000.

The INEDs have reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out above and have
confirmed that the continuing connected transaction was entered into (i) in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from independent third parties; and (iii)
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them and on terms that are fair and

reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the Company’s external auditor, was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transaction
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

In respect of each related party transaction disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company confirms that it has reviewed the transaction and complied with
the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules (if applicable). Save as disclosed above
and the following continuing connected transactions mentioned below which are exempted
from the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the related party transactions set out in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements do not constitute connected transactions or

continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

(i) Pursuant to seven loan agreements between a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, namely Greenheart Resources and the Immediate Holding Company of
the Company, namely Newforest, a loan facility of an aggregate principal amount of
US$8,000,000, a loan facility of an aggregate principal amount of US$3,500,000,
a loan facility of an aggregate principal amount of US$3,000,000, a loan facility
of an aggregate principal amount of US$911,000, a loan facility of an aggregate
principal amount of US$792,000, a loan facility of an aggregate principal amount of
US$1,100,000 and a loan facility of an aggregate principal amount of US$1,030,000
were granted by Newforest to Greenheart Resources. As the loan facilities are on
normal commercial terms and no security over the assets of the Group was granted
in respect of the loan facilities, the grant of the loan facilities by Newforest to
Greenheart Resources is exempted from the reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent shareholders’” approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The transactions contemplated thereunder constitute a related party transaction

as disclosed in note 38(a)(i) to the consolidated financial statements.
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(i)

(iii)

Pursuant to the loan agreement between a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and a fellow subsidiary of the Company, a loan facility of an aggregate
principal amount of US$20,000,000 were granted by the fellow subsidiary to the
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. As the loan facilities are on normal
commercial terms and no security over the assets of the Group was granted in respect
of the loan facilities, the grant of the loan facilities by the fellow subsidiary is exempted
from the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute a related party transaction as disclosed in note

38(a)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has granted to its fellow subsidiary (the “Licensee”) a license to enter into,
use and occupy part of the Group’s Hong Kong office premises. In connection with
the license, the Group shares certain administrative expenses with the Licensee. The
Group recharges the Licensee the rent of the licensed area of the premises together
with administrative expenses attributable to the Licensee monthly. As the recharge is
on a cost basis, it is exempted from the reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The transactions contemplated thereunder constitute related party transactions as

disclosed in note 38(a)(iii) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of the Company:

Number of shares

held and underlying

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company in the share capital and underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO), or

as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as

Approximate
percentage of
the total issued

share capital of

Name of Director Capacity shares interested the Company
%

Cheng Chi-Him, Conrad Beneficial owner 0 (Note 1) 0

Simon Murray Beneficial owner 2,239,477 (Note 2) 0.12

Tsang On-Yip, Patrick Beneficial owner 0 (Note 1) 0

Wong Man Chung, Francis Beneficial owner 0 (Note 1) 0

Notes:

1. In accordance with the exercise period of share options of the Share Option Scheme, all share

options were lapsed on 13 September 2021.
2. 1,100,000 share options granted by the Company were lapsed on 13 September 2021 in

accordance with the exercise period of share options of the Scheme Option Scheme.
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(b)  Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of Integrated Waste Solutions Group

Holdings Limited (“IWS”), an associated corporation of the Company:

Under the share option scheme of IWS, a fellow subsidiary of the Company, the following

Directors of the Company have personal interests in share options to subscribe for the ordinary

shares of IWS. Details of the share options of IWS granted to the relevant Directors are as

follows:
Number of shares

held and underlying
Name of Director Capacity shares interested
Tsang On-Yip, Patrick Beneficial owner 15,000,000 (Note 1)
Wong Man Chung, Francis Beneficial owner 8,800,000 (Note 1)
Note:
1. It represents number of share options granted by IWS.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Approximate
percentage
of the total

issued share
capital of IWS
%

0.31
0.18

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above and in the paragraph headed “Share

Option Scheme” below, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the

acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective

spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its

holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to

enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted at its special general meeting held
on 28 June 2012 (the “Share Option Scheme”) whereby the Directors are authorized, at their
discretion, to invite employees, executives or officers of the Group, including executive and non-
executive directors of any company in the Group, and any suppliers, consultants, advisers, agents,
shareholders, customers, partners or business associates of the Group, to take up option to subscribe
for ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”) as incentives and rewards for their contribution to
the Group. Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant. The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten

years ending on 28 June 2022, after which no further options will be granted.

The grant of option will be open for acceptance within 30 business days from the date of the letter of
grant, upon payment of a sum of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of option. The exercise price of
options is determined by the Board at its sole discretion, save that such price will not be less than the
highest of (a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day; (b) the average of the closing prices of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five business days immediately

preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a Share.

The total number of the Shares of the Company which may be issued under the Share Option Scheme
as at 31 December 2021 was 168,635,550 (2020: 184,559,150) Shares (including options for
15,923,600 shares that have been granted but not yet lapsed or exercised up to 31 December 2020),
representing 9.05% (2020: 9.95%) of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December
2021. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
Share Option Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the Shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’

approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or
to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the INEDs. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an INED, or to any of their associates, in excess of
0.1% of the Shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the
price of the Company’s Shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month

period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.
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Movements of the share options of the Company during the year are as follows:

Closing price Weighted
of the average
Company's closing
share  price of the
immediately  Company's

before the shares

Asat Granted Exercised ~ Cancelled Lapsed Asat Exercise date of grant  immediately

1 January during during during during 31 December Exercise period Vesting price of Date of grant of ofshare  before the

Name or category of participant 2021 the year the year the year the year 2021 of share options period  share options share options options ~ exercise date
HKS HKS HS

Directors, chief executive and a substantial shareholder and their associates

Cheng Chi-Him, Conrad 3,300,000 - - - 3300000 - 13520161012 Sep 2021 NJA 071 13 Sep 2016 076 -

Tsang On-Yip, Patick 3,300,000 - - - 6300000 - 13 Sep20T610 12 Sep 2021 NA 071 13 Sep 2016 076 -

Simon Murtey 1,100,000 - - - 0,100,000 < 13520761012 Sep 2021 NJA 071 13 Sep 2016 076 -

Wong Man Chung, Francis 1,100,000 - - - (1,100,000) - 13 Sep 2016 to 12 Sep 2021 NA 0.71 13 Sep 2016 0.76 -

Nguyen Van Tu, Peter (Note 1) 1,100,000 - - - (1,100,000) - 13 Sep 2016 to 12 Sep 2021 NA 0.71 13 Sep 2016 0.76 -

Employees (other than Directors)

In aggregte 1,623,600 - - - B0 - 13520161012 Sep 2021 Note 2 071 13 Sep 2016 076 -

Others 4,400,000 - - - A0 - 13520161012 Sep 2021 NJA 071 13 Sep 2016 076 -

Total 15,923,600 - - - 1593600 -

Notes:

1. Mr. Nguyen Van Tu, Peter passed away on 16 June 2020. Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, his
personal representative can exercise all his vested and unexpired share options within the period of 365
calendar days from the date of death of Mr. Nguyen.

2. The share options are subject to a vesting schedule and can be exercised in the following manner:

(a) In respect of employees who have joined the Company for more than 2 years as at the date of
grant, all share options granted will be vested on the date of grant;

(b) In respect of employees who have joined the Company for less than 2 years but more than 1 year
as at the date of grant, 50% of the share options granted will be vested on the date of the grant
and the other 50% will be vested on the first anniversary of the date of grant. For example, if the
date of grant is 13 September 2016, the other 50% of the share options will be vested on the first
anniversary of the date of the grant, i.e. 13 September 2017; and

(c) In respect of employees who have joined the Company for less than 1 year as at the date of the

grant, 50% of the share options granted will be vested on the first anniversary of the date of grant,
and the other 50% will be vested on the second anniversary of the date of grant. For example, if
the date of grant is 13 September 2016, the other 50% of the share options will be vested on the
second anniversary of the date of the grant, i.e. 13 September 2018.

Details of the valuation of the share options granted during the year are set out in note 34 to the

financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’

Directors’ Report

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

INTERESTS AND

So far as is known to the Directors and the chief executive of the Company, as at 31 December 2021,

the following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the Company) had, or were deemed

to have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company which would

fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and

3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long Positions in Shares and underlying Shares:

Name of Shareholder

Newforest Limited

Cheng Yu Tung Family
(Holdings) Limited

Cheng Yu Tung Family
(Holdings 1) Limited

Wu Wai Leung, Danny

Chow Tai Fook (Holding)
Limited

Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited

Chow Tai Fook Enterprises

Limited

Capacity

Beneficial owner

(Notes 1,3 & 4)

Interest of controlled

corporation (Note 1)

Interest of controlled

corporation (Note 1)

Interest of controlled

corporation (Notes 1 & 2)

Interest of controlled

corporation (Notes 1 & 4)

Interest of controlled

corporation (Note 1)

Interest of controlled

corporation (Notes 1 & 4)

Number

of Shares

1,122,005,927

1,122,005,927

1,122,005,927

1,122,005,927

1,122,005,927

1,122,005,927

1,122,005,927

Annual Report 2021

Number of
underlying

Shares

Approximate

percentage of

issued share

capital of the

Company

%

60.49

60.49

60.49

60.49

60.49

60.49

60.49
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Directors’ Report

Name of Shareholder

Gateway Asia Resources

Limited

Sharpfield Holdings Limited

China Forestry Group

Corporation

Hong Kong Genghis Khan
Group Limited

Ge Jian

Koo Chi Sum and Simon

Rhys Thomas

Idea Perfect Holdings
Limited

VMS Investment Group
Limited

Mak Siu Hang Viola

Capacity

Interest of controlled

corporation (Notes 1 & 2)

Interest of controlled

corporation (Notes 1, 3 & 4)

Interest of controlled

corporation (Note 5)

Beneficial owner (Note 6)

Interest of controlled

corporation (Note 6)

Agent of charged shares
(Note 7)

Person having a security

interest in shares (Note 8)

Beneficial owner and
interest of controlled

corporation (Note 8)

Interest of controlled

corporation (Note 8)
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Number

of Shares

1,122,005,927

1,122,005,927

110,000,000

110,000,000

110,000,000

1,122,005,927

448,802,370

473,588,370

473,588,370

Number of
underlying

Shares

Approximate

percentage of

issued share

capital of the

Company

%

60.49

60.49

5.93

5.93

5.93

60.49

24.19

25.53

25.53



Directors’ Report

Notes:

1. Newforest Limited is directly and beneficially owned as to 40% by Gateway Asia Resources Limited
(a direct wholly-owned company of Mr. Wu Wai Leung, Danny) and as to 60% by Sharpfield Holdings
Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited). Chow Tai Fook
Enterprises Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited, an 81.03% owned
subsidiary of Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited. Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited is owned as to 48.98% and
46.65% by Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited and Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings Il) Limited,
respectively. As such, Mr. Wu Wai Leung, Danny, Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited and Cheng Yu
Tung Family (Holdings II) Limited are deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Newforest Limited is
interested by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

2. Mr. Wu Wai Leung, Danny is a director of Gateway Asia Resources Limited.
3. Mr. Cheng Chi-Him, Conrad is a director of Newforest Limited and Sharpfield Holdings Limited.

4. Mr. Tsang On-Yip, Patrick is a director of Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited, Chow Tai Fook Enterprises
Limited, Newforest Limited and Sharpfield Holdings Limited.

5. The 110,000,000 shares are held by China Forestry International Resource Company Limited which
is wholly owned by China Forestry Group Corporation. By virtue of the SFO, China Forestry Group
Corporation is deemed to be interested in the 110,000,000 shares.

6. The 110,000,000 shares are held by Hong Kong Genghis Khan Group Limited which is wholly-owned by
Mr. Ge Jian. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Ge Jian is deemed to be interested in the 110,000,000 shares.

7. Mr. Koo Chi Sum and Mr. Simon Rhys Thomas were appointed as joint and several receivers in respect of
(1) 400 shares of Newforest Limited representing 40% of the entire issued share capital of the Newforest
Limited and (2) the entire issued share capital of Gateway Asia Resources Limited. As such, Mr. Koo Chi
Sum and Mr. Simon Rhys Thomas are deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Newforest Limited is
interested by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

8. Idea Perfect Holdings Limited acquired a security interest in 40% of the entire issued share capital of
Newforest Limited. Idea Perfect Holdings Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of VMS Investment Group
Limited, which is in turn 100% controlled by Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola. As such, VMS Investment Group
Limited and Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola are deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Newforest
Limited is interested by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified by any person (other than the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as at 31 December 2021 which were
required to be notified to the Company pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of

the SFO or which are recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under the SFO.
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Directors’ Report

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at the

date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance. The corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on

pages 21 to 35.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to shareholders by reason of their

holding of the Company’s shares.

DONATION

Charitable donation made by the Group during the year amounted to HK$27,000 (2020:
HK$22,000).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the Group are set out in note 45 to the

consolidated financial statements.

AUDITORS

There has been no change of auditor of the Company in any of the three preceding years.
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Directors’ Report

PAST PERFORMANCE AND FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

The performance and the results of operations of the Group in the past years as contained in this
annual report are historical in nature and past performance can be no guarantee of future results
of the Group. This annual report contains forward looking statements and opinions with respect
to the financial conditions, results of operations and business of the Group. These forward looking
statements represent the Company’s expectations or beliefs concerning future events and involve
known and unknown risks and uncertainty that could cause actual results, performance or events
to differ materially from those expressed or implied in such statements. Neither the Group nor the
Directors, employees or agents of the Group assume (a) any obligation to correct or update the
forward-looking statements or opinions contained in this annual report; and (b) any liability in
the event that any of the forward-looking statements or opinions do not materialize or prove to be

incorrect.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to take this opportunity to express its sincere gratitude to our shareholders,
clients and suppliers for their continuous and valuable support and to extend its appreciation to
our management and staff for their diligence and dedication, despite the fact that 2021 was a

challenging year.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
GREENHEART GROUP LIMITED

Cheng Chi-Him, Conrad

Non-executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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TO THE MEMBERS OF GREENHEART GROUP LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Greenheart Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to 208,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the

consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued
by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.



Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance

in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were

addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in

forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of the timber

concessions and cutting rights in Suriname

We identified the impairment assessment of
the timber concessions and cutting rights
(“Concessions”) in west and central Suriname
as a key audit matter as it is significant to the
consolidated financial statements and significant
judgements and estimates are involved in the
impairment assessment of the Concessions.
As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amount of
the Concessions at 31 December 2021 was
HK$142,886,000, which represented 12.9% of
the Group’s total assets. With the operating loss
before finance costs resulted from the operations
in west and central Suriname for the year ended
31 December 2021 as disclosed in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company considered that there was an

impairment indicator.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to assessing
impairment assessment of the Concessions

included:

o Assessing the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the Valuer and
obtaining an understanding of the Valuer’s

scope of work;

. Obtaining the valuation report from
the management for the calculation of
the fair value less costs of disposal and
comparing with the carrying amount of

the Concessions;

. Obtaining the detailed work of the
Valuer, particularly the key inputs to
the valuation including harvest volume,
discount rates and revenue during the
forecast period with reference to the

respective Concession terms;
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of the timber
concessions and cutting rights in Suriname

(continued)

For the impairment assessment, the recoverable
amounts of the relevant Concessions in west and
central Suriname are determined at fair value less
costs of disposal by the directors of the Company
with reference to a valuation carried out by an
independent professional valuer (the “Valuer”).
As detailed in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements, the determination of the fair
value less costs of disposal of the Concessions
is dependent on certain key inputs, including
harvest volume, discount rates and revenue
during the forecast period with reference to
the respective Concession terms, which are
highly judgemental. Based on the impairment
assessment of the Concessions, a reversal of
impairment of HK$12,785,000 was recognised
for the Concessions during the year ended 31
December 2021.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

o Working with our internal valuation
expert and evaluating the appropriateness
of the Valuer’s valuation approach,
accuracy and relevance of key data
inputs underpinning the valuation and
assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions applied based on available
market data and our knowledge of the

business and industry; and

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the cash
flow projections by comparing the actual
results of those cash-generating units to

the previously forecasted results used.



Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

Valuation of plantation forest assets in

New Zealand

We identified the valuation of plantation forest
assets in New Zealand as a key audit matter
as it is significant to the consolidated financial
statements and significant judgements and
estimates are involved in the valuation of the
plantation forest assets. As disclosed in note 21
to the consolidated financial statements, the
carrying amount of the plantation forest assets at
31 December 2021 was HK$411,173,000, which

represented 37.0% of the Group’s total assets.

The Group engaged the Valuer to estimate the
fair value less costs to sell of the plantation forest
assets. As detailed in note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements, the determination of the fair
value of the plantation forest assets is dependent
on certain key inputs, including discount rate
and log price projections, which are highly

judgemental.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to assessing the
valuation of the plantation forest assets in New

Zealand included:

o Assessing the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the Valuer and
obtaining an understanding of the Valuer’s

scope of work;

J Obtaining the valuation report provided
by the management for the determination
of the fair value less costs to sell of

plantation forest assets;

J Obtaining the detailed work of the
Valuer, particularly the key inputs to the
valuation including discount rate and log

price projections; and

o Working with our internal valuation
expert and evaluating the appropriateness
of the Valuer’s valuation approach,
accuracy and relevance of key data
inputs underpinning the valuation and
assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions applied based on available
market data and our knowledge of the

business and industry.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we

do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to

liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting

process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90
of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain

professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future

events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements

represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and

where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest

benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Lam Chi Hong.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
29 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Revenue

Cost of sales and services

Gross profit

Other income

Other gains and losses

Impairment losses (recognised) reversed on
financial assets, net

Fair value gain on plantation forest assets

Share of (loss) profit of an associate

Selling and distribution costs

Administrative expenses

Finance costs

Loss before tax

Income tax expense

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income (expense)

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Revaluation gain on forestry land

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences arising on translation of

foreign operations

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive expense for the year

2021 2020
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
5 320,521 326,253
(288,187) (317,232)

32,334 9,021

7 1,528 3,644
7 (394) (101)

8 (1,626) 8,705
21 26,630 61,089
22 (124) 108
(43,911) (44,840)
(47,767) (49,933)
9 16,171) (17,646)
10 (49,501) (29,953)
13 (9,730) (6,174)
(59,231) (36,127)

8,875 8,549

(8,728) 10,172

147 18,721
(59,084) (17,406)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive (expense) income for
the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Loss per share

Basic

Diluted
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2021 2020
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
(36,938) (17,237)

(22,293) (18,890)

(59,231) (36,127)

(36,791) 1,484

(22,293) (18,890)

(59,084) (17,406)

15 HK$(0.020)  HK$(0.009)
15 HK$(0.020)  HK$(0.009)




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31 December 2021

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Timber concessions and cutting rights
Finance lease receivables

Plantation forest assets

Prepayments, deposits and other assets
Interest in an associate

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade receivables

Finance lease receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other assets
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary
Tax recoverable

Bank balances and cash

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Contract liabilities

Lease liabilities

Bank borrowings

Loan from a fellow subsidiary
Tax payable

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

NOTES

16
17
18
19
20
21
25
22

23
24
20
25

38(b)(i)

26

27

28

29

30

31
38(a)(ii)
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2021 2020
HK$/000 HK$’000
304,907 316,184
38,996 42,291
5,651 5,651
142,886 140,123
- 4,716
411,173 455,131
2,143 1,728
1,826 1,889
907,582 967,713
40,318 25,102
42,169 16,359
4,716 5,261
14,867 19,956
428 213
7,116 7,055
92,916 167,684
202,530 241,630
27,479 39,075
45,800 48,771
1,430 1,329
3,581 4,406

- 243

500 -
22,720 20,563
101,510 114,387
101,020 127,243
1,008,602 1,094,956
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31 December 2021

2021 2020
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities 30 18,520 19,743
Loans from immediate holding company 38(a)(i) 187,214 181,900
Loan from a fellow subsidiary 38(a)(ii) 156,000 -
Bank borrowings 31 24,960 219,960
Deferred tax liabilities 32 105,228 97,589
491,922 519,192
NET ASSETS 516,680 575,764
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 33 18,550 18,550
Reserves 898,929 935,720
917,479 954,270
Non-controlling interests 35 (400,799) (378,506)
TOTAL EQUITY 516,680 575,764

The consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 208 were approved and authorised for issue by
the Board of Directors on 29 March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

DING WAI CHUEN TSANG ON-YIP, PATRICK
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share Share Land Non-
Share  premium  Contributed option Capital ~ revaluation Merger  Translation Accumulated controlling Total
capital account surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses ~ Sub-total ~interests equity
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(note (b)) (note 34) (note (a))

At 1 January 2020 18,550 2,091,657 83,274 10,135 846 42,304 265 (2,610)  (1,291,635) 952,786 (359,616 593,170

Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (17,237) (17,237) (18,890) (36,127)

Other comprehensive income

for the year:
Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations - - - - - - - 10,172 - 10,172 - 10,172
Revaluation gain on forestry land - - - - - 8,549 - - - 8,549 - 8,549
Total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year - - - - - 8,549 - 10,172 (17,237) 1,484 (18,890) (17,406)

Transfer upon the lapse of share options - - - (5,48) - - - - 5,448 - - -

At 31 December 2020 18,550 2,091,657 83,274 4,687 846 50,853 265 7,562 (1,303,424) 954,270 (378,5006) 575,764

Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (36,938) (36,938) (22,293) (59,231)

Other comprehensive income

(expense) for the year:
Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations - - - - - - - (8,728) - (8,728) - (8,728)
Revaluation gain on forestry land - - - - - 8,675 - - - 8,675 - 8,675
Total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year - - - - - 8,875 - (8,728) (36,938) (36,791) (22,93) (59,084)

Transfer upon the lapse of share options - - - (4,687) - - - 4,687 - - -

At 31 December 2021 18,550 2,091,657 83,274 - 846 59,728 265 (1,166)  (1,335,675) 917,479 (400,799) 516,680

Notes:

() The merger reserve represents the difference between the fair value of the consideration given for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in prior years pursuant to a business combination under common control
and the total amount of the historical carrying amount of the consolidated net assets of the acquiree at
the date of acquisition and the amount of certain liabilities of the acquiree assumed by the Group in
connection with the business combination.

(b) The Group’s contributed surplus, which arose from the Group reorganisation on 2 July 1991, represents

the difference between the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued under the reorganisation

scheme, in exchange for the shares in the subsidiaries and the consolidated net asset value of the

acquired subsidiaries, reduced by distributions to shareholders.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2021

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income and finance lease income
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Loss on early termination of a lease
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of:
Forest depletion cost
Harvest roading costs
Timber concessions and cutting rights
(Reversal of write-down) write-down of inventories
Impairment (reversal of impairment) of:
Property, plant and equipment
Timber concessions and cutting rights
Trade receivables
Right-of-use assets
Other receivables
Fair value gain on plantation forest assets
Share of loss (profit) of an associate

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital
Increase in inventories

(Increase) decrease in trade receivables

Increase in prepayments, deposits and other assets
(Decrease) increase in trade payables

(Decrease) increase in other payables and accruals
Increase in contract liabilities

(Increase) decrease in amount due from a fellow subsidiary

Cash generated from operations
Interest received

Overseas taxes paid

Hong Kong tax refunded (paid)

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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2021 2020
HK$/000 HK$’000
(49,501) (29,953)
16,171 17,646
(689) (1,327)

1 —

302 -
19,829 15,122
6,564 7,507
68,091 67,103
6,297 16,530
10,022 10,257
(3,447) 3,085
8,128 -
(12,785) -
1,626 (42)
91 (289)

- (8,663)
(26,630) (61,089)
124 (108)
44,194 35,779
(4,555) (3,611)
(27,436) 7,880
(1,621) (7,015)
(5,727) 16,504
(2,105) 460
101 420
(215) 2,262
2,636 52,679
52 264
(1,835) (7,934)
2,187 (6,570)
3,040 38,439




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (14,913) (8,554)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 6 6
Additions of plantation forest assets 4,717) (6,192)
Acquisitions of plantation forest assets (1,201) (16,334)
Refund of refundable earnest money - 8,663
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (20,825) (22,411)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Loan advanced from a fellow subsidiary 156,000 -
Repayments of bank borrowings (195,243) (410)
Repayments of lease liabilities (4,589) (5,535)
Interest paid on lease liabilities (1,467) (1,076)
Interest paid on borrowings (8,654) (12,590)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (53,953) (19,611)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (71,738) (3,583)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT AT 1 JANUARY 167,684 168,300
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (3,030) 2,967
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 92,916 167,684
Represented by:
Bank balances and cash 26 92,916 167,684
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its parent is Newforest
Limited, a company incorporated in Cayman Islands and its ultimate parent is Chow Tai Fook
Enterprises Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong. The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate

information to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which
is different from the functional currency of the Company, United States dollars (“US$”). The
Company is a public company with principal place of business in Hong Kong with its shares
listed on the Stock Exchange, where most of its investors are located and therefore, the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) consider that HK$ is preferable in presenting the

operating results and financial position of the Group.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its principal subsidiaries are

set out in note 46.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 2021 for the

preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the IFRS Interpretations Committee
(the “Committee”) of the International Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021 which
clarified the costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary to make the sale”

when determining the net realisable value of inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial position and performance for the current

and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year. The
amendments relate to changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows
of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform, specific hedge accounting requirements and the related disclosure

requirements applying HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (“HKFRS 7”).

As at 1 January 2021, the Group has a financial liability, the interests of which are
indexed to benchmark rates that will or may be subject to interest rate benchmark
reform. The following table shows the total amounts of these outstanding contracts. The

amount of liability is shown at its carrying amount.

US$ London
Interbank
Offered Rate
(“LIBOR”)
HK$"000

Financial liability
Bank borrowings 219,960

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated financial statements as
none of the relevant contracts has been transitioned to the relevant replacement rates
during the year. The Group will apply the practical expedient in relation to the changes
in contractual cash flows resulting from the interest rate benchmark reform for bank
borrowings measured at amortised cost. Additional disclosures as required by HKFRS 7

are set out in note 40.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)

2.2 Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the Committee — Cost necessary to

sell inventories (HKAS 2 Inventories)

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda decision, clarified the costs an entity
should include as “estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when determining the
net realisable value of inventories. In particular, whether such costs should be limited
to those that are incremental to the sale. The Committee concluded that the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale should not be limited to those that are incremental but

should also include costs that an entity must incur to sell its inventories including those

that are not incremental to a particular sale.

The Group’s accounting policy prior to the Committee’s agenda decision was to
determine the net realisable value of inventories taking into consideration incremental
costs only. Upon application of the Committee’s agenda decision, the Group changed
its accounting policy to determine the net realisable value of inventories taking into
consideration both incremental costs and other costs necessary to sell inventories

including allocation of direct costs of sales department. The new accounting policy has

been applied retrospectively.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has had no material impact on the

Group’s financial positions and performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have

been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37
Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments’

Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?*

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June
20217

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction’

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before
Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 — 2020°

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the Directors anticipate that

the application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on

the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

(a) Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and

related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the assessment of
right to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date for classification

of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

. Specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should
be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period.

Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management intentions or

expectations to settle the liability within 12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with covenants, the right
exists if the conditions are met at the end of the reporting period, even if

the lender does not test compliance until a later date; and

. clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the counterparty,
result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current or non-current only if the
entity recognises the option separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32

Financial Instruments: Presentation.
In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence of the

Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings with no change in

conclusion.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

(a) Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and

related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s right to defer settlement for bank borrowing
of HK$24,960,000 are subject to compliance with certain financial ratios within 12
months from the reporting date, as disclosed in note 31; and the Group’s right to defer
settlement for loans from immediate holding company and a fellow subsidiary of
HK$187,214,000 and HK$156,500,000, respectively, are subject to complian